St. John's University St. John's Scholar

Theses and Dissertations

2023

WHAT STYLES OF LEADERSHIP SUPPORT THE PROCESS OF PHILANTHROPY FOR HIGHER EDUCATION? A QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS

Joy DeDonato

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.stjohns.edu/theses_dissertations

Part of the Educational Leadership Commons

WHAT STYLES OF LEADERSHIP SUPPORT THE PROCESS OF PHILANTHROPY FOR HIGHER EDUCATION? A QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

to the faculty of the

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATIVE AND INSTRUCTIONAL LEADERSHIP

of

THE SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

at

ST. JOHN'S UNIVERSITY

New York

by

Joy DeDonato

Date Submitted: September 28, 2022

Date Approved: January 31, 2023

Joy DeDonato

Dr. James Campbell

© Copyright by Joy DeDonato 2023 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

WHAT STYLES OF LEADERSHIP SUPPORT THE PROCESS OF PHILANTHROPY FOR HIGHER EDUCATION? A QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS Joy DeDonato

This qualitative research examined how styles of leadership can impact the process of philanthropy for higher education. Effective leadership can aid in the successful transformation of organizations, influence donors, and implement change. In recent years, higher education has evolved from being an altruistic source of learning to becoming a source of income to advance an institution. Philanthropic funding for higher education can serve to assist researchers, labs, buildings, theaters, athletic stadiums, and endowments. The organizations included in this study were three community colleges within the State University of New York (SUNY) system. Research data were collected via interviews of the executive directors of the foundations and donors at each respective institution. In addition, subsequent observations as well as artifacts were used to triangulate the research data. Data analysis explored thematic connections linking leadership style and philanthropic success within the organizations. Raising funds to aid a college/university can be historic in its efforts in philanthropy, and those in leadership roles are essential. This study examined which style of leadership can be most effective.

Keywords: leadership style, fundraising, community college philanthropy, leadership style in higher education

DEDICATION

This is dedicated to my family. To my parents JoAnn and Richard Cavalieri, who are my heroes. You have supported me through every failure and success throughout my entire life with unconditional love. You have pushed me and believed in me, even when I didn't believe in myself. You raised Richie and me to be the best we can be. You both epitomize loyalty, candor, authenticity, and most importantly: love. You are both the smartest people I have ever known. You are both the real *Doctors*.

To my brother, Richie; sister-in-law, Jill; and their family; my "sister friend" Lisa and her family; my father-in-law, Ted Sr.; and my brothers- and sisters-in-law, Rose, Don, Suzi, and Richie and their families (all of which never stopped asking me if I was a Doctor yet); and to my extended family and friends who encouraged me to keep going: thank you for your support.

And to those who are no longer with us, like my grandmother, aunt, and motherin-law: thank you for being the whispers in the wind that I heard telling me to keep going (even when I wanted to quit). I hope I made you all proud.

Most sincerely, to my husband, Ted, and our daughters, Alexandra Grace and Cara Faith: Thank you for being so understanding throughout this process. I appreciate your love and commitment more than I could ever show. Thank you for your patience during this process. It's finally time for that long-overdue family vacation.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I write this as I stand before the finish line of an educational journey that I would not have embarked on without the guidance and mentorship of some incredibly inspiring mentors, professors, and a cohort of colleagues that have braved the trenches with me. As a first-generation college graduate to soon earn the title of *Doctor* I cannot help but feel overwhelmed with gratitude and astonishment for even entering the race of a lifetime.

Dr. Campbell, thank you for agreeing to be my mentor and help me get to the finish line. I'm thankful for your guidance. To those on my committee: Dr. Bernato and Dr. Annunziato, I appreciate your expertise and thoughtful advice. To all of the professors, mentors, colleagues, board members, donors, participants, and volunteers I have been fortunate enough to learn from: thank you.

Thank you, Dr. Sylvia Diaz, for always helping me grow. I am grateful that you have always sent the elevator back down for me every time you've reached your next professional milestone, and in kind, I will do the same for others. Thank you to my NCC Cohort—my comrades, colleagues, and friends: Maria, Genette, Laurie, Demetrius, Kevin, Dave, Kerri-Ann, Molly, Jessica, and my "golden girl" Amanda. Although each of us will be completing at different times, there is comfort in knowing we have cheered each other on and helped each other through each leg of this journey. To my work family, Rudy, Colleen, and Tommy: I feel blessed to have you in my life. I'd like to acknowledge Dr. Thomas Dolan for introducing this program to my colleagues and me. Without you, none of us would be here. Because of you, we are the luckiest group in all of Bedford Falls. Thank you for helping us earn our wings.

iii

DEDICATION					
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii					
LIST OF TABLES					
LIST OF FIGURES ix					
CHAPTER 1					
Introduction1					
Purpose of the Study1					
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework1					
Significance/Importance of the Study3					
Connection to the Vincentian Mission					
Research Questions4					
Design and Methods4					
Identifying Participants and Sampling5					
Data Collection5					
Definition of Terms6					
Chapter Summary9					
CHAPTER 2					
Introduction11					
Theoretical Framework11					
Related Research and Leadership Styles12					
Servant Leadership13					
Transactional Leadership13					

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Emotional Leadership14	4
Transformational Leadership1	5
Relationship Between Prior Research and Present Study1	6
Chapter Summary1	7
CHAPTER 31	8
Introduction1	8
Research Questions1	8
Qualitative Research Design1	8
Case Study Approach1	9
Research Site	0
Population and Sample2	1
Data Collection Procedures2	2
Observations2	3
Interviews	3
Documents and Artifacts24	4
Data Analysis24	4
Trustworthiness of the Design2	5
Role of the Researcher20	6
Chapter Summary20	6
CHAPTER 4	7
Introduction	7
Participants2	8
Research Question 1: What Is the Relationship Between Leadership Style and Institutional Advancement?	4

Theme 1: Mission Focused	34
Theme 2: Relationship Building	37
Theme 3: Shared Vision	39
Theme 4: Empower and Inspire	40
Theme 5: Strategic Planning	41
Theme 6: Diversity Matters	42
Research Question 2: Can Leadership Style Help Explain Successful Institutional Advancement Programs?	43
Theme 1: Mission Focused	43
Theme 2: Relationship Building	43
Theme 3: Shared Vision	44
Theme 4: Empower and Inspire	44
Theme 5: Strategic Planning	44
Theme 6: Diversity Matters	44
Research Question 3: Which Particular Aspects of Leadership Style Have the Most Influence on Successful Institutional Advancement Programs?	45
Theme 1: Mission Focused	45
Theme 2: Relationship Building	45
Theme 3: Shared Vision	46
Theme 4: Empower and Inspire	46
Theme 5: Strategic Planning	47
Theme 6: Diversity Matters	48
Chapter Summary	48
CHAPTER 5	50

Discussion	.50
Interpretation of Results	.51
Relationship Between Results and Prior Research	.52
Limitations	.53
Implications for Future Research	.54
Implications for Future Practice	.55
Chapter Summary	.56
APPENDIX A ST. JOHN'S UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	59
APPENDIX B PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM	.60
APPENDIX C FOUNDATION LEADERSHIP INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	.62
APPENDIX D FOUNDATION/BOARD DONOR INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	.64
REFERENCES	66

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Participan	t Demographic	Data2	8
---------	------------	---------------	-------	---

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Conceptual I	Framework:	Theory .	Applied to	Yield S	uccessful	Results	2
								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

This qualitative research examined how styles of leadership can impact the process of philanthropy for higher education. The organizations included in this study were three community colleges within the State University of New York (SUNY) system. Research data were collected via interviews of the executive directors of the foundations and donors at each respective institution. In addition, subsequent observations of as well as documentation such as bylaws, mission statements, and meeting agendas were used to triangulate the research data.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this qualitative research was to examine which leadership styles best supports the process of philanthropy for higher education. Leadership plays an integral part in measuring success when strategic organizational importance is placed on raising funds, specifically in higher education. Effective leaders succeed in transforming organizations, influencing donors, and implementing change. In recent years, higher education has evolved from being an altruistic source of learning to becoming a source of income to achieve organizational goals. Areas that help with funding in higher education aid researchers, labs, buildings, theaters, athletic stadiums, and endowments. To this end, this study examines which style of leadership can be most effective.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

Servant leadership, transactional leadership, emotional leadership, and transformational leadership were the leadership styles that were analyzed for this research. Servant leadership can be described as when the leader humbles himself to the

status of serving others holistically within the applicable environment (Greenleaf & Spears, 2002). Transactional leadership is often explained as a cost-benefit exchange between leaders and their followers (Kuhnert & Lewis, 1987). The transaction or exchange involves something of value between what the leader possesses or controls and what the follower wants in return for his/her services (Yukl & Van Fleet, 1992). Emotional leadership, according to Goleman's research, relies on the most competent leaders all presenting a high degree of emotional intelligence (EI). Transformational leadership has evolved in interpretation throughout the years. This theory was developed by Burns (1978) and later enhanced by Bass (1985, 1998) and others (Avolio & Bass, 1988; Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bennis & Nanus, 1985; Tichy & Devanna, 1986). The major premise of the transformational leadership theory is the leader's ability to motivate the follower to accomplish more than what the follower planned to accomplish (Krishnan, 2005).

In conclusion, this research took a closer look at the different styles of leadership and the characteristics of each and examined the traits that can be a positive influence or detrimental towards fundraising in the higher education sector of development and beyond.

Figure 1



Conceptual Framework: Theory Applied to Yield Successful Results

Significance/Importance of the Study

Fundraising for higher education institutions has become more important as there is increasingly limited government funding for public education. Philanthropy within the advancement/foundation department in the college sector has evolved from being a department that was perhaps in the peripheral view to evolving into one of major focus. Raising funds for scholarships, endowments, and programs on campus may have been done; however, oftentimes, this activity was not a necessity. The need now to raise income to help fill in the gap of programs not being filled, enrollment at some institutions decreasing, and capital projects waiting for grants that were either promised or not being fulfilled have applied pressure now to a department possibly overlooked in the past. It is currently a function in which many college presidents must engage as part of their job/role.

The significance of this study is to examine what type of leadership supports the process of philanthropy for higher education, and ultimately what strategies will aid in income generation to increase revenue for colleges as a whole.

Connection to the Vincentian Mission

The Vincentian Mission, based on the life and works of St. Vincent de Paul's compassion and fervor for service, is linked in many ways to this research. This qualitative study examined the impact of leadership styles that include servant leadership (most closely connected to St. Vincent de Paul) as well as the styles of transactional leadership, emotional leadership, and transformational leadership, which are also reflected in the empathetic and emotionally driven way that St. Vincent de Paul lived his life. Philanthropy, especially in funding higher education, provides a way for others in the

community to give back financially and improve the way of life for all people, especially those lacking economic, physical, or social advantages.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement?
- 2. Can leadership style help explain successful institutional advancement programs?
- 3. Which particular aspects of leadership style have the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs?

Design and Methods

This qualitative research was a case study and involved three separate community college foundations. The research questions were guided by a theoretical lens, incepted from fundraising in philanthropy and its impact on higher education. The study utilized the information received from the interviews of the donors as well as the foundation leadership to retrieve the data to analyze. According to Ewert (2013), enrollment in independent schools increased until the early 2000s. However, since that time period, enrollment in schools has steadily decreased (Ewert, 2013).

There are many reasons for this to occur; however, in relation to this study, one could surmise that some of these trends could be attributed to the economy (Aud et al., 2013). Many who once could afford an education can no longer afford tuition (Aud et al., 2013; Ewert, 2013). The purpose of this case study was to explore the impact of the leadership style of foundation leaders and their donors, because part of their philanthropic mission is to fundraise for student scholarships.

Identifying Participants and Sampling

The selection of foundation leadership and their donors was integral because the study relied on the perspectives of both leaders and donors. First, it was important to interview the foundation leadership staff to see what strategies were important for the college community and the schools. Second, it was key to interview the donors and board members to ensure not only that the strategic vision matched the college communities' plans but also that the vision was also working in tandem with the community at large as well, since each institution was a community-serving entity.

To recruit participants, an email was sent to the SUNY foundation leadership advancement staff members asking if they would voluntarily participate in this study via a Google Form. The form also asked if they could provide two board members or donors from their foundation to also participate. Three schools were selected at random from the responses. Once the three schools were selected and the feedback was received from those interested in participating, each participant was followed up with via email to begin the process of interviewing and next steps. Nine subjects were selected to participate in the research study. Prior to the interview process, all consent forms were submitted and signed by each participant.

Data Collection

The research on fundraising and philanthropy in the higher education setting is limited to date (Caboni, 2008). The data collected were to help further extend this research and provide increased data retrieval for future research. Each participant was interviewed. The data collected via interview were recorded with consent from each participant utilizing Webex secure software. Research was supported by the Webex

software utilizing the transcription feature to support the coding process. In addition, documents and artifacts, such as follow-up telephone calls, emails, notes, and foundation documents, were utilized and examined for thematic associations.

According to Nicholson (2007), a better comprehension of leadership theory, and the attributes that are associated with leadership, can not only help leaders shape and mold their approach to fundraising but also enable them to impart a better sense of the significance of fundraising to their institutions while increasing the amount of funding they acquire (p. 255).

Definition of Terms

Annual Report:

A voluntary report published by a foundation or corporation describing its grant activities. It may be a simple, typed document listing the year's grants or an elaborately detailed publication. A growing number of foundations and corporations use an annual report as an effective means of informing the community about their contributions activities, policies, and guidelines. (The annual contributions report is not to be confused with a corporation's annual report to the stockholders.). (Council on Foundations, 2021)

Bass Transformational Leadership Theory:

The Bass transformational leadership theory was formulated by Bernard M. Bass in 1985. This theory expanded upon Burns's original definition. This theory specifies how a leader influences his/her subordinates. (Bass, 1985) Bequest:

A sum of money made available upon the donor's death (Council on Foundations, 2021).

"Bricks and Mortar":

An informal term indicating grants for buildings or construction projects (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Bylaws:

The governing rules of a nonprofit corporation. Bylaws often provide the methods for the selection of directors, the creation of committees, and the conduct of meetings (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Capital Campaign:

Also referred to as a *capital development campaign*, a capital campaign is an organized drive to collect and accumulate substantial funds to finance major needs of an organization, such as a building or major repair project (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Charity:

In its traditional legal meaning, the word "charity" encompasses religion, education, assistance to the government, promotion of health, relief of poverty or distress, and other purposes that benefit the community. Nonprofit organizations that are organized and operated to further one of these purposes generally will be recognized as exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and will be eligible to receive tax-deductible charitable gifts (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Donor:

A person who donates something, especially money to a fund or charity (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Emotional Leadership:

Emotional leadership is a process that leaders use to influence their followers in a common goal (Goleman, 1995).

Endowment:

The principal number of gifts and bequests that are accepted subject to a requirement that the principal be maintained intact and invested to create a source of income for a foundation. Donors may require that the principal remain intact in perpetuity, or for a defined period of time or until sufficient assets have been accumulated to achieve a designated purpose (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Fundraising:

The seeking of financial support for a charity, cause, or other enterprise (Merriam-Webster, 2021).

In-Kind Contribution:

A donation of goods or services rather than cash or appreciated property (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Matching Gifts Program:

A grant or contributions program that will match employees' or directors' gifts made to qualifying educational, arts and cultural, health, or other organizations (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Philanthropy:

Philanthropy is defined in different ways. The origin of the word *philanthropy* is Greek and means "love for mankind." Today, philanthropy includes the concept of voluntary giving by an individual or group to promote the common good. Philanthropy also commonly refers to grants of money given by foundations to nonprofit organizations. Philanthropy addresses the contribution of an individual or group to other organizations that in turn work for the causes of poverty or social problems, improving the quality of life for all citizens. Philanthropic giving supports a variety of activities, including research, health, education, and arts and culture, as well as alleviating poverty (Council on Foundations, 2021).

Servant Leadership:

The servant-leader is servant first. Servant leadership begins with the natural

feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first (Greenleaf, 1970).

Transactional Leadership:

Transactional leadership uses rewards or punishments and includes three components, which are typically distinguished as instrumental in follower's target achievement (Bass, 1997).

Transformational Leadership:

Transformational leadership is a process in which "leaders and followers help each other to advance to a higher level of morale and motivation" (Burns, 1978).

Chapter Summary

This chapter introduced leadership style and why it should be examined further in relation to its impact on philanthropy in higher education. It expressed how the data

would be collected and the importance of the vantage points of both those in leadership positions and those who give to the foundations at higher education foundations selected at the community college level. Also demonstrated was the theoretical and conceptual framework and how the data collection would be conducted. A brief description of the design was included along with the methodology. Lastly, the definitions of terms that were important to the context of this study were included for perspective.

CHAPTER 2

Introduction

Effective leaders succeed in transforming organizations, influencing donors, and implementing change. In recent years, higher education has evolved from being an altruistic source of learning to becoming a source of income to achieve next level accomplishments. The research questions examine if there is a relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement; if leadership style can help explain institutional advancement programs; and lastly, if there is a particular leadership style that has more than others demonstrated success in advancement programs.

Theoretical Framework

This study examined how styles of leadership can impact the process of philanthropy for higher education. Servant leadership, transactional leadership, emotional leadership, and transformational leadership were the leadership styles that were analyzed for this study.

As Bell et al. (2010) explained, "Today's effective leaders hold impact and financial return in an integrated way; all the time." (p. 50). Working with each foundation's board of directors, their donors, the institution's board of trustees, leadership in higher education constantly analyze their fiscal situations and that of other schools in pioneering ways. Working in concurrence with the board, foundation leadership must develop strategic plans; raise funds; and maintain a vision and mission, a plan for scholarship support, new programs, buildings and facilities, as well as a powerful shortterm and long-term fiscal strategy. In this way, foundations as well as their institutions can be strengthened.

Related Research and Leadership Styles

Leadership style can influence a donor to give, a program to begin, and a strategic plan to take flight. This study explored the influence of three executive directors' leadership styles and the impact these styles have on influencing donors and board members for each school. The study was intended to increase understanding of the effects of the characteristics and leadership behaviors on scholarship fundraising efforts, programs, capital development campaigns, and fundraising in three community colleges within the SUNY system.

Kirkpatrick and Locke (1996) conducted an experiment to study the impact of leadership behaviors. These behaviors included visioning, expressive communication, and providing clarifying work advice to employees. These leadership behaviors resulted in a greater sense of trust. Those following leaders who had a strategic plan and vision had a greater sense of urgency about completing the efforts and thought that the work was interesting. In addition, they set higher goals. Having a clear message and a strong vision had a positive impact on employees' work. This could be replicated for those who work in philanthropy in higher education, and the results for those who are donors and raising funds.

Discussing college presidents, Bornstein (2005) wrote:

Fundraising is cited by fifty-three percent of all the respondents as a daily activity. As many as ninety-one percent say they engage in fundraising activities at least every week. Since colonial times, presidents of higher-education institutions have been expected to demonstrate both academic leadership and fundraising prowess. But the magnitude of dollars that presidents must now raise

dwarfs past expectations; added to the other demands that presidents cite, the job is much more complex today. (p. 11)

This research examined if leadership style impacts the results of this planning.

Servant Leadership

Servant leadership can be described as when the leader humbles himself to the status of serving others holistically within the applicable environment (Greenleaf & Spears, 2002). Greenleaf was noteworthy in defining aspects of servant leadership; specifically, the leader exemplified the following: proper stewardship, promoting the communal growth and wellness of subordinates, and accurate conceptualization through persuasion (as opposed to coercion). Proper stewardship derived from the premise of the American nature of philanthropy, while retaining the promise of benevolence in trust of another (Greenleaf & Spears, 2002).

The philanthropic nature in business seeped into academia, while not overlooking its connection to the community (Greenleaf & Spears, 2002). However, with the formerly ample resources of the community no longer offsetting the dwindling academic resources, servant leadership aided employees to re-establish human connections as motivation, as well as permitted communal wellness, and accurate conceptualization of tasks and projects. Greenleaf (1977/2010) stated that ego promoted achievement, but it must remain in alignment.

Transactional Leadership

Transactional leadership often explained as a cost-benefit exchange between leaders and their followers (Kuhnert & Lewis, 1987). The transaction or exchange involves something of value between what the leader possesses or controls and what the

follower wants in return for his/her services (Yukl & Van Fleet, 1992). Transactional leadership involves leaders clarifying goals and objectives, communicating to organize tasks and activities with the co-operation of their employees to ensure that wider organizational goals are met (Bass, 1974, p. 341). The success of this type of leaderfollower relationship depends on the acceptance of hierarchical differences and the ability to work through this mode of exchange.

Transactional leadership expresses that subordinates and systems work better under a clear chain of command. As Bass (1985) explained, "Transactional leaders pursue a cost-benefit, economic exchange to meet followers' current material and psychological needs in return for contracted services rendered by the subordinate" (p. 16). The implicit belief in the leader/follower relationship is that people are motivated by rewards and penalties (Kuhnert & Lewis, 1987).

Emotional Leadership

Emotional leadership, according to Goleman's (1995) research, is based on the concept that the most competent leaders all present a high degree of EI. It includes the following five components: self-awareness, self-regulation, motivation, empathy, and social skill. Emotional leadership is one of the most important skills that those who work with teams must have.

People who want to motivate others need to have the ability to inspire and guide because that's the key to reaching any goal. Emotionally intelligent leadership (EIL) theory combines relevant models, theories, and research in the areas of EI and leadership. With an intentional focus on context, self, and others, emotionally intelligent leaders facilitate the attainment of desired outcomes.

Transformational Leadership

Transformational leadership has evolved in its in interpretation throughout the years. This theory was developed by Burns (1978) and later enhanced by Bass (1985, 1997) and others (Avolio & Bass, 1988; Bass & Avolio, 1990; Bennis & Nanus, 1985; Tichy & Devanna, 1986). The major premise of transformational leadership theory is the leader's ability to motivate the follower to accomplish more than what the follower planned to accomplish (Krishnan, 2005).

Transformational leadership has four components: idealized influence, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration (Bass, 1985). Burns described that transformational leaders inspire followers to accomplish more by concentrating on the followers' values and helping the followers align these values with the values of the organization.

In conclusion, Burns identified transformational leadership as a relationship in which the leader and the follower motivated each other to higher levels, which resulted in value system congruence between the leader and the follower (Krishnan, 2005). Bass (1985) refined and expanded Burns's leadership theory. Bass (1985) said that a leaders are motivational, inspiring others to accomplish more than they had originally intended or planned. He said that this motivation could be achieved by raising the awareness level about the importance of outcomes and ways to reach them. Bass also said that leaders encourage followers to go beyond self-interest for the good of the team or the organization. Hoy and Miskel (2013) described the importance of vision in organizations as follows:

These leaders display conviction about important issues; exhibit high standards

of ethical and moral conduct, sharing risks with followers in setting and attaining goals; consider the needs of others over their own; and use power to move individuals or groups toward accomplishing their mission, vision, and cause, but never for personal gain. Transformational leaders energize people by projecting an attractive and optimistic future, emphasizing ambitious goals, creating idealized visions for the organization, and clearly communicating to followers that the vision is attainable. Hence, team spirit, enthusiasm, optimism, goal commitment, and a shared vision arise and coalesce within the work group or organization. (p. 450)

Relationship Between Prior Research and Present Study

The common goal of all foundations, those cited in this study included, is to reach the philanthropic proverbial heartstrings and purse strings of each prospective donor. To connect with the community and donors, and to remain true to the mission of the foundations, philanthropy is the heart, and this study examines what make each heart beat. The origin of the word *philanthropy* is Greek and means "love for mankind."

Today, philanthropy includes the concept of voluntary giving by an individual or group to promote the common good. Philanthropy also commonly refers to grants of money given by foundations to nonprofit organizations. Philanthropy addresses the contribution of an individual or group to other organizations that in turn work for the causes of poverty or social problems, improving the quality of life for all citizens.

Philanthropic giving supports a variety of activities, including research, health, education, and arts and culture, as well as alleviating poverty (Council on Foundations, 2021). The rationale for giving was explored by Loyd (2010), as is how an organization

receiving gifts feel about the donations. According to Conway (2003), the responsibility of managing and receiving philanthropic donations is one aspect of stewardship that the school leader must consider. Leadership should think about their empathy for donors and make sure that all of the constituents of the organization have sincere gratitude for and sense of caring for the donors (Muir & May, 1993).

To shed light on the relationship between leadership styles and outcomes, this study utilized the mission of each organization, the philanthropic history, and data on the funds raised over time, as well as the leadership style impacting donations. Further, the researcher took into consideration the shared vision of the organization as a whole.

Chapter Summary

This chapter explained the theoretical framework and defined the leadership styles being examined in this study. These styles include servant leadership, transactional leadership, emotional leadership, and transformational leadership. In addition, this chapter included a discussion of the definitions of philanthropy and how imperative it is to ensure that the foundations and/or organizations remain mission focused to receive the funding necessary for their strategic plans. The examinations of the history of each leadership style offers an investigative approach to discover if one style more than another impacts philanthropy for higher education.

CHAPTER 3

Introduction

Leadership style is determined by deep-seated values and beliefs about how people learn. Leaders may call their leadership style whatever they wish—emotionally led, mission-focused, transactional, transformational, top-down, bottom-up—but ultimately, their deep-seated values and beliefs are mirrored throughout the school. One can know the essence of the school leader, then, by looking at the tone and educational environment of the school (Goldman, 1998). The purpose of this study was to explore the impact of leadership style of three executive directors and the donor and board impact on the philanthropy at three community college foundations.

Research Questions

This study was a case study and involved three community college foundations. The research questions were guided by a theoretical lens, which examined how leadership style—specifically, servant leadership, transactional leadership, emotional leadership, and transformational leadership—can impact philanthropy in higher education. The research questions were:

- 1. What is the relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement?
- 2. Can leadership style help explain successful institutional advancement programs?
- 3. Which particular aspects of leadership style have the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs?

Qualitative Research Design

Creswell described the qualitative approach to a case study with the investigator focusing on one or more cases over time through detailed, in-depth data

collection involving multiple sources of information (Creswell, 2013). This study utilized this method to retrieve the data from its participants. Qualitative research starts with ideas and the use of theoretical frameworks that guide the research investigation that relate to some dilemma or problem. A qualitative researcher, therefore, investigates people and places in a particular context and is able to establish a particular pattern or theme (Creswell, 2013). Denzin and Lincoln (2011) stated that

Qualitative research is a situated activity that locates the observer in the world. Qualitative research consists of a set of interpretive, material practices that make the world visible. These practices transform the world. They turn the world into a series of representations, including field notes, interviews, conversations, photographs, recordings, and memos to the self. This means that qualitative researchers study things in their natural settings, attempting to make sense of or interpret phenomena in terms of the meanings people bring to them. (p. 3)

Qualitative methods involve extrapolating evidence for a theory from what people say or write (Field, 2013). Interviews were conducted with the executive directors as well as board members of the foundation at each of three participating schools.

Case Study Approach

This study used a case study approach including interviews. Leadership style and leadership attributes were examined for patterns, trends, and evolving themes. Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggested that the strength of qualitative research must conform to being credible, transferable, dependable, and confirmable when the data are analyzed. Yin

(2014) suggested that the quality of qualitative research design can be examined through four lenses: construct validity, internal validity, external validity, and reliability.

Case studies are frequently used to chart previously uncharted territory and can serve as the basis for future investigations by creating richly written descriptions (Yin, 2014). This study examined through the interviews the commonalities of these executive directors, their board members, the school leadership, and the community. Having these dialogues with each participant from each respective school, one could surmise if a common theme presented itself or if each leader had a unique style that presented itself for each school that reflected the impact on philanthropy at the foundation. These dialogues would bring up rationale for training for future leaders within foundations, or they could show that a particular style worked better within a certain constituency. Could a specific style create more success in fundraising, better morale, stronger allegiance, more alumni engagement, or more community collaboration? Yin (2014) suggested a case study approach for research questions that are cutting-edge and ones that the investigator cannot directly manipulate.

For this study, interviews served as the basis. In-depth interviews were to provide professional judgment about leadership styles and philanthropic efforts. I interviewed nine participants over a four-week period during the summer of 2022. The focus of the interviews was to get an in-depth view of the participants' experiences in relation to leadership style and its impact on their organizations.

Research Site

The research was conducted via interviews virtually through St. John's University's secure Webex Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPPA)

secure platform. The participants included executive directors and donors of foundations within the SUNY community colleges sector. In addition, subsequent observations of board meetings (virtually) as well as documentation such as bylaws, mission statements, and meeting agendas were used to triangulate the research data. Each foundation included in this study is a separate 501(c)(3), and the research was performed virtually. The Institutional Review Board was presented with the study and provided written consent. To maintain confidentiality, the names of the foundations are be cited as Foundation A, B and C.

Foundation A's mission is to raise funds to provide scholarships and support the college's initiatives that will have a significant and direct impact on the students, faculty, and staff. Foundation B's mission is to serve as a nonprofit corporation formed to develop additional resources that enable the college to provide quality educational experiences for its students. A donor's gift will help provide scholarships, emergency student loans, support for unique academic enrichment programs, special projects for faculty and staff development, and efforts to enhance the community's awareness of the college and its services. Foundation C's history includes being built through the efforts of many generous individuals, philanthropists, volunteers, corporations, and foundations, all of whom committed time, talent, expertise, and funding to provide for the college and its students with what public funding cannot. The foundations' total income generated annually ranged from \$1.3 million to over \$7 million.

Population and Sample

The objective in finding appropriate participants for this study was to ensure that the subjects all could speak to the subject matter and their experiences would be relevant

to the research being completed. Therefore, the selection of these subjects for this study was purposeful, and the study included nine participants. Three participants were executive directors of their respective foundations, and the other six participants were board members of/donors to the organization.

The participants varied in gender, ethnicity, age, educational background, and years serving their respective foundations. This qualitative study used a case study approach which includes interviews. Leadership style and leadership attributes were examined for patterns, trends, and emergent themes. Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggested that the validity of qualitative research must conform to being credible, transferable, dependable, and confirmable when the data are analyzed.

Data Collection Procedures

Yin (2014) recommended that the value of qualitative research design can be examined through four lenses: construct validity, internal validity, external validity, and reliability. An initial recruitment email and Google form was sent out for participation in the study. Once the responses were submitted and the participants were selected, a call from me to each participant explaining the study took place. In addition, I conducted recorded interviews virtually through the University's secure Webex account, a secure platform with the participants. The researcher then observed meetings virtually, and reviewed artifacts such as bylaws, mission statements, and public reports to see if the leadership style and culture of the organization has an influence on the philanthropic success of the organization. The goal was to share the results of the study with the directors to see which leadership styles are most supportive of philanthropic efforts, specifically in higher education.

Observations

The beginning stages of the data collection process included observations of the executive directors' leadership during meetings with their donors via a Webex account, which is a secure platform. These meetings were conducted via Webex with permission, so that they could be recorded for me to study. The transcription feature in Webex was utilized to convert the audio file to text.

Interviews

The interview process with each subject was most valuable in the data collection process. This provided an open dialogue for each participant to share their experiences of learning, success, and pride points throughout their years serving each respective institution's foundation, as well as to share the leadership styles that made the organizations most successful in philanthropy. Each participant was emailed or called to set up an interview via Webex secure platform and recorded. Each participant signed a consent form (Appendix B). The informed consent form included all researchers, including the primary investigator and the co-investigator.

Benefits and potential risks were disclosed to participants before administering the survey or conducting the interviews. The informed consent form also includes an explanation of the study. The interviews took place utilizing the Webex secure platform and the transcription feature on Webex was utilized so the files could be converted to text so the dialogue could be used as a reference. The interviews were held within 60 minutes each. The participants were asked questions regarding leadership style, their foundation's history, and areas of pride and success within their tenure within the organization. The interview questions are attached for both the

leadership (Appendix C) and the board members/donors (Appendix D). All questions were asked as listed.

Documents and Artifacts

The documentation and artifacts were retrieved for this study during the timeframe of the interviews. Since each of these organizations are separate 501(c)(3)s, most of the documentation for the organizations is available online and to the public. This includes annual reports, fundraising reports, mission statements, bylaws, and more. Additional emails and follow ups were used as artifacts as part of this process of collection. Each organization had a website from which to further collect data as needed for this study.

Data Analysis

Several data analysis strategies for case studies are recommended by Creswell (2013). The data were organized by creating and organizing files for the data. Text transcribed from the recorded interviews were read through and notes were made. Patterns, themes, and their contest were then described. In order to interpret the data, Creswell (2013) recommended the use of natural themes. Finally, an in-depth picture of the case (Creswell, 2013) was presented using narrative, tables, and figures. The data also were coded. This process consisted of coding the data collected from the interviews, observations, documents, and artifacts.

Qualitative research starts with ideas and the use of theoretical frameworks that guide the research investigation that relate to some dilemma or problem. A qualitative researcher therefore investigates people and places in a particular context and is able to establish a particular pattern or theme (Creswell, 2013).

I created category lists by which I coded the data (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). I

also color coded the data from the generalized categories. Creswell (2013) recommended five or six categories with shorthand labels (codes). Additionally, throughout data analysis and initial theme development, I reviewed initial themes in the observations to ensure they were consistent and the reoccurring emerging themes matched the data presented. Finally, I condensed the coding to six themes from which I wrote my synopsis.

Trustworthiness of the Design

According to Marshall and Rossman (2011), credibility and validity are the criteria against which a qualitative study is authenticated. Marshall and Rossman stated that "Determining reliability and validity remains the qualitative researcher's goal" (p. 41). Marshall and Rossman recommended that the subsequent measures assist in ensuring the thoroughness and trustworthiness of a qualitative study: searching for evidence, extended engagement in the field, collaboration, and peer debriefing.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) offered these procedures in order to ensure that there are standards of trustworthiness. These criteria provide assurance that the data and their interpretations are both believable and sound (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Zhang and Wildemuth (2009) discussed trustworthiness in qualitative research in the following way: validity, reliability, and objectivity are criteria used to evaluate the quality of research in the conventional positivist research paradigm. Credibility refers to the "adequate representation of the constructions of the social world under study" (Bradley, 1993, p. 436). During this study, credibility was validated by using triangulation, which consisted of the review of notes of observations, interviews, and documents and artifacts.

Role of the Researcher

In order to be objective in this research, it was important for the purpose of this study, that although in my vocation as an executive director of a foundation at a community college, I did not impart my opinion to the interview process and simply took the feedback from the interview questions to analyze, code, and interpret the data. Although I have nearly 20 years of experience in nonprofit management and over a decade of experience in the higher education sector, it was imperative for me to be as objective and impartial as possible. And although I have a keen understanding of varying leadership styles as they relate directly to this research, I wanted to be as unbiased as possible.

Chapter Summary

This chapter outlined the study of the design and the process by which the collection of data would be retrieved and the formula showing why a qualitative case study approach was best suited for this study. In addition, the research site was described as well as the selection of participants of this study. Included were the recruitment process and the manner in which the data would be recorded and transcribed. Also, the consent process was explained. In addition, the importance of trustworthiness and data cleanliness was discussed through varying methods, including but not limited to triangulating data. Lastly, known limitations or biases were addressed to the best of my ability.

CHAPTER 4

Introduction

The key purpose of this study was to investigate how leadership style specifically, how servant leadership, emotional leadership, transactional leadership, or transformative leadership impacts philanthropy in higher education. This chapter examines the results of the interviews, representing nine participants' views on leadership, leadership style, and its impact on philanthropy in higher education, as well as the three answers to the research questions.

During these interviews six themes emerged from the participants' experience, and connections to the styles of leadership were made for the summary. The findings are presented in this chapter. The data were coded, categorized, and organized using the following method as described by Nicholson (2006). Participants were asked to selfidentify their age, gender, and race/ethnicity (Table 1). All names used are pseudonyms to preserve confidentiality.

Table 1

Participant Demographic Data

		Age				Years of Service with
Foundation	Participant	Bracket	Gender	Race/Ethnicity	Education	the Foundation
А	Debbie	50-59	Female	Caucasian	Master's Degree	10+ Years
А	Evelyn	60-69	Female	Caucasian	Other	10+ Years
А	Connor	70-79	Male	Caucasian	Master's Degree	10+ Years
В	Susan	60-69	Female	Latino or Hispanic	Doctoral Degree	5-10 Years
В	Brendan	40-49	Male	Caucasian	Master's Degree	5-10 Years
В	Beverly	60-69	Female	Latino or Hispanic	Bachelor's Degree	10+ Years
С	Doreen	60-69	Female	Caucasian	Master's Degree	1-4 Years
С	Marilyn	60-69	Female	Caucasian	Master's Degree	1-4 Years
С	Whitney	60-69	Female	Caucasian	Master's Degree	1-4 Years

Note. Participants were asked to self-identify their demographic information

Participants

Foundation A is renowned for its rich history, as it brings together alumni, donors, and friends to support the college's mission of preparing students to fully realize their potential and make a positive contribution to their community. Foundation donors help raise approximately \$1.3 million annually, with 30 board members. This foundation makes approximately \$450,000 in scholarships available to more than 250 students annually. The foundation offers opportunities such as planned giving, estate giving, bequests, and annual giving, and it assists with capital campaigns and other legacy gifting options as well. The support is raised through various avenues. This includes but is not limited to an annual gala, golf tournament, annual appeal, and fund drives. Additionally, the foundation is the link between the college and its more than 40,000 alumni. The

communication with the alumni and the donors continues via a digital newsletter and regular email communication. The key leadership style connector is communication and relationship building.

Debbie is the executive director of Foundation A. She has been with the organization for 17 years. She has worked with three different college presidents during her tenure, and her board consists of 30 members. She is a Caucasian female, in her 50s with a master's degree. She has had a myriad of roles at this organization during her time at the foundation. She is mission focused and expressed how important communication and relationship building are the cornerstones of her leadership style. She also expressed that the monies fundraised for the foundation support scholarship initiatives and annual funds along with events support the mission of the organization. Her dedication, empathy, and commitment are evident in the growth of the foundation.

Evelyn is a member of the board of directors for Foundation A. She has been part of the board and in service to the foundation for over 10 years. She is in her 60s and identifies as Caucasian and female and has served in multiple roles on the board, including chair and vice chair throughout her tenure. She explained how the executive director reports both to the board and the president of the college. She expressed the importance of the structure of the committees and strategy to work in tandem with the college and how leadership style absolutely impacts the philanthropy and funds received for the organization. She expressed that the overall sentiment of the board was mission focused and dedicated to the success of the vision that is collectively planned by working in tandem with the college and the foundation leadership.

Connor is the Chair of Foundation A's board. He has served the institution and foundation in various roles for over 50 years. Connor is a Caucasian male in his 70s and was a faculty member for many decades, then became part of the administration in his role as an academic dean; upon retirement, Connor began to serve on the foundation board. Connor also made note of mentioning how the executive director reports both to the college president and the foundation board, and how that could be a challenge for many; however, Debbie has done so masterfully. He expressed how the foundation structure with its committees and strategic plan must work well to be effective. He expressed that leadership style is absolutely imperative to the critical fundraising efforts and its impact is evident. Given Connor's extensive history with the college, he provided enormous insight into the evolution of the foundation, its leadership and its impact on philanthropy for higher education as a whole and specifically related to institution.

Foundation B was formed to develop additional resources that enable the college to provide quality educational experiences for its students. Scholarship funds constitute the largest single use of the assets of the foundation. Emergency student loans, support for unique academic enrichment programs, special projects for faculty and staff development, and efforts to enhance the community's awareness of the college and its services are also supported by the foundation. The foundation board of directors includes alumni and community leaders who have given financial support and pledged an enduring commitment to assist the college in its mission to provide the highest quality of academic service to the citizens of the region. The foundation is also responsible for alumni and retiree outreach. Alumni activities enhance the well-being of the college, its student body, its alumni network, its faculty, and the community by hosting various

social, cultural, and fundraising events. With nearly 20 board members, Foundation B raises over \$1.5 million annually and boasts over 100,000 alumni. The key leadership style connector is remaining mission focused while raising funds.

Susan, a Latina in her 60s with her doctorate, has been the executive director of Foundation B for nearly a decade. She has a background in mental health counseling and non-profit management for over 25 years. She explained how the foundation supports the college in its philanthropy efforts; however, there are two distinct cultures in which leadership style impacts the philanthropy efforts for their institution. The college has a board of trustees, and the foundation has a board of directors. And while a few members have served in one capacity or the other, it has been imperative that the strategic planning and vision remain mission focused. In addition, it has been a recurring theme within the board members and she herself, that diversity be prevalent in manner in which there is representation of the community within the foundation board to best reflect the constituents in which the foundation serves alongside the college community. During her tenure the board has developed from being driven by alumni and faculty driven to opening up to more board members that serve the community at large. Additional corporate partners, collaborators, and contributors have increased their presence and giving based on the recommendation of the current leadership. This has significantly impacted the fundraising efforts due to leadership style.

Brendan, a Caucasian male with a master's degree, has served on Foundation B's board for nearly a decade. In his role as the foundation board's treasurer, he has a unique perspective on and analysis of the correlation between fundraising dollars being brought in and if leadership style has made an impact on that. Within his role he has seen an

evolution of the board and identified that the growth and diversity of the constituents on the board has led to the development and strength of the board, raising more funds and reaching more community members. He also explained that more students have received funding for scholarships and transfer opportunities, in addition to job placement and growth culturally, developmentally, and educationally.

Beverly, a Latina female in her 60s, having earned a bachelor's degree, has multiple roles on both sides of the structure of the institution. She currently serves as Foundation B's board chair and has also served on the college's board of trustees. She has an incredible amount of experience in the community, as a parent, as a community leader, and as an advocate for students and for the community at large. She has worked with various college presidents for this college and has been a volunteer in service for over 10 years. She is proud of the evolution and growth of the foundation and said with confidence that the leadership style has a huge impact on the foundation and college as a whole.

Foundation C proudly shares its trailblazing history of over 50 years of support for its college and fulfilling potential. Foundation C was built through the efforts of many generous individuals, philanthropists, volunteers, corporations, and foundations, all of whom committed time, talent, expertise, and funding to provide for the college and its students with what public funding was not able to provide. Foundation C generates approximately \$7 million annually and has over 50 board members. To date, \$100 million has been raised, \$24 million in scholarships awarded, 250,000 volunteer hours dedicated, \$3.25 million invested in faculty excellence, and 72,000 square footage of instructional space added—because philanthropy has been valued as an investment for

this institution via their foundation. The key leadership style connector is strategic planning and relationship building.

Doreen is the executive director of Foundation C. She is a Caucasian female in her 60s who has been in her role for the past few years. She has earned a master's degree, and in this role she reports to both the college president and the foundation board. The board at Foundation C is exceptionally large, having over 55 members. One could infer that it may be the strong community involvement that also impacts the success of the foundation. Foundation C is one of the most successful foundations in all of the SUNY system. The members are diverse in their professions and interests, and those spoken to agreed that leadership style impacts the philanthropy efforts in higher education. Doreen shared that the mission and vision of the foundation is to work in tandem with the college. It was important to her that the board members really partake in the mission statement and vision and strategic planning with the college so that the mission of the foundation stays on track and works to its potential. Doreen explained that the board is very involved in planning and has multiple committees and engages frequently. According to Doreen the engagement and dedication of the board is remarkable. Doreen expressed that what she finds amazing regarding the board is the fact that its members represent different political affiliations, different professions, and varied backgrounds; however, the members are all mission focused. They believe in the college and it serving the community.

Marilyn, a board member for Foundation C, has served on the board for about a year and is currently co-chair of the strategic planning committee, part of the outreach committee, and a member of the scholarship committee. She has her master's degree and

has served on multiple boards during her professional career. She admires the leadership and expressed pride in the size of the exceptional board she is part of. She expressed that the leadership is professional, organized, and very engaged with the board members. She shared that the diversity of professions strengthens the board for assisting with planning, strategy sessions, and implementing fundraising efforts and campaigns for the future. She shared that the leadership style impacts the philanthropy efforts as well as impacts the fundraising within the organization.

Whitney is a board member for Foundation C. She is in her 60s and is a Caucasian female with a master's degree. She has served on the board as a chair of the strategic planning committee and been on the board since January 2020. She marveled at the size of the board and shared that it is incredible that so many board members are as involved as they are. With over 50 members, it creates a business model in which is highly effective in strategy planning and deliverables for the college in fundraising efforts. She expressed how leadership is communicative, collaborative, professional, and very engaging.

Research Question 1: What Is the Relationship Between Leadership Style and Institutional Advancement?

Theme 1: Mission Focused

One of the primary themes consistently shared by the participants was their focus on the mission of the foundation. Each organization's mission is primarily focused on being the fundraising arm for their respective college, and their philanthropic efforts can directly impact the students they serve. When asked what the relationship was between leadership style and institutional advancement, nearly all participants shared that it was congruent. Brendan shared that the donors they are working with believe in the mission first. He explained that the leadership style trickles down from the college, the foundation staff, board members, etc., who all work together, and that is directly demonstrated in the advancement model and results in institutional advancement.

Susan explained,

Our donors are mission focused. They understand that leadership style is critical to the mission and the more money we raise, the more funding can go towards the mission. A donation amount that could be given at Foundation B would be considered nominal (would not make a dent in tuition) at a private university; however, for us at the community college level, that same donation changes a trajectory of life.

She went on to share, "we can do a lot with very little, and that impact is transformative. And when they donate to us, we can affect more lives."

Debbie shared that mission is always the top priority. She stated,

First and foremost, it's about our students. If they need our support, we must do whatever is in our power to support them. When it comes to the foundation, it's really about what's important for the students and to take everything back to the students, and I keep all our conversations in that direction.

Whitney concurred with the sentiment, saying that as for the foundation's leadership style, the relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement includes "loyalty and to always be mission focused." Connor shared,

Tangentially, the students and staff and other people who benefit from pursuing our mission also. You know, fully invested in the, in the process in a very different way. And again, they become our future and in a very real way.

He went further in expressing the future of the scholarship student:

When the leadership style is mission focused, and a student earns a scholarship, he/she has earned a scholarship, for example, and goes down and becomes a heart surgeon, or an inventor work with a large corporation. These students come back to the college and remember their experience and how the leadership always kept them, the students as the mission—first and foremost.

Beverly concurred, and the sentiments regarding the foundation being mission focused was a recurring theme in relation to the leadership style and institutional advancement. She also expressed the following: "The mission makes it all worth it, it's the volunteerism. We're here to transform lives."

Mission focus was exemplified when speaking with Debbie. She gave an example of a student who benefited from the generosity of the donors and that the community at large was astounded by the impact of how leadership within the organization impacted advancement in a grand way. She shared how she has conversations with donors and how one particular dialogue went. She shared that

the school has a food pantry. This is due to the population of students (many you'd never know) go to school, eat and live in their cars. They must make that choice: school or a place to live or whether or not to eat that day.

She explained that a donor was so moved by the conversation they had (which was a direct link to her leadership style) that the donor initiated a student housing fund.

Through Debbie's advocacy efforts in going to the state, the foundation received funding, and now there is a fund to support homeless students—aiding them to be able to utilize the residence halls on campus. The leadership style in the conversation had influenced the conversation to turn into action, which then increased philanthropy, directly impacting the higher education institution.

Theme 2: Relationship Building

Relationship building was a theme brought up by nearly all participants relating to leadership style impacting institutional advancement. Relationships amongst the board members and the community leveraged philanthropy and fundraising for each foundation.

Beverly shared the following: "The connections that we have within the community, which is so important, ties directly to the mission which impacts the fundraising efforts." She shared,

We have people on our board who donate money, but the impact is so much more. For instance, we have a donor so impacted by the mission that due to the relationship building that was done he donated a large sum of funding for our scholarship programs. This scholarship partnership began with one funding opportunity which evolved to so many more scholarship opportunities for more students. In addition, based on my own relationships and ties with the community, I have made numerous calls to the government officials in our community and begin partnerships that benefit our students.

These sentiments were echoed by Marilyn. She explained the leadership style demonstrated by the executive director and shared by the board is one of continuous relationship building. She explained that many board members were donors and utilized their own professional relationships to assist with growing the advancement funding at the foundation. She shared that many board members give their time, dedication, and large donations of funding to support as many students as possible. This is based on a style of giving that is most closely described as mission focused coupled with transactional actions that in part bring forth a transformational outcome with growing the advancement funding.

Whitney concurred, sharing that leadership style impacts advancement by influencing the building of relationships amongst those who are extremely wealthy and are education minded board members. When they see the impact, it motivates them to give more as the impact reaches more and more students. What came to mind for her were the words: "Engaging—communicative—ultimately, relationship building is key."

Evelyn shared that in her experience, relationship building and relation to leadership style impacting institutional advancement were absolutely correlated. She shared that

the college chose to keep "Community" in the college name for a myriad of reasons but most importantly because of the "community" component of the school and its foundation. The relationships that are built within the community for the college are incredibly important, and to lose the word "Community" for any reason would be a disservice. We are all proud to be build greater relationships for this community college.

Connor explained that in his experience, relationship building is central to leadership style impacting institutional advancement because those on the board, including leaders, are willing and really eager to get involved and to share what they know whether it's community affiliation that they have separate and apart from the college, or in the case of some of the lawyers on the board, sharing, knowledge that they have from that perspective. There are many different angles of wisdom and relationship we all bridge together to focus on whatever our immediate concern or need is at the foundation to benefit the college.

Theme 3: Shared Vision

A shared vision between the college and the foundation is integral in making sure those who are creating the programs and those funding programs and the college are on the same page and their vision is being carried out with a consistent tone.

Whitney expressed that the leadership style related to shared vision is one of unity. She expressed how the staff does the heavy lifting, are committed, and are extremely communicative.

Doreen shared that she hopes her leadership style is perceived as it is intended; she hopes to build a collaborative environment. She shared her own experience

that it pains me when people feel excluded or there's bad feelings and I really try to make it a positive experience. I want to be collegial, and I want everybody to be supportive of each other feel fortunate that I believe that is what we have here. I find it more effective if we're helping each other vs. burning out. We want to stay focused, but we want a culture of achieving a work-life balance. How can we help each other if we are not balanced ourselves?

Beverly expressed that "the efforts must be collaborative and of a shared vision. There is a partnership that just happened with the foundation regarding scholarships and it's amazing. It goes a long way."

Debbie concurred regarding shared vision. She explained, "For the foundation, it's also about having a vision, it's about knowing where the foundation is going. We're doing this to help our students and we need to know that we are on the path that will help them."

Theme 4: Empower and Inspire

Empowering and inspiring students became an emergent theme as well during the interviews. Although the actions of empowering and inspiring may seem to be internal, there is a direct correlation to the way that leadership style impacts philanthropy when the leadership inspires donors to give and empowers students to succeed. It is a direct cause and effect.

Susan shared that empowering students and inspiring them is tangible:

It's happening within your community. At our community college, education is transformative. It's not a surprise when we share that inspiring message. With our donors, we can present it in real time. Just this week. At one of our events, we had a couple of graduate students that had just graduated who have the world ahead of them. They can go anywhere. They shared how they are heavily recruited by other institutions. The philanthropy for us is happening in real time. You could touch and you could see it. It's not something like when you work for an organization that's raising money for research and hopefully somewhere down the line.

Debbie expressed that "empowering people feels right. Listening to people feels right." She shared that she believes that the most significant elements of her leadership style are listening, honesty, trustworthiness, and most importantly having integrity.

Theme 5: Strategic Planning

Strategic planning was continually discussed among both the board members and the leadership participants. Throughout the conversations it was conveyed that the strategic planning for the foundations led the fiscal year's journey, and that directly impacted the philanthropy efforts. The manner in which leadership pivoted through difficulty and led by example championed the students and also made a path for donors to feel their mobility in helping the students. This was reflected in campaign efforts, events, lobbying initiatives, and planning within the college, supported by the foundation leadership staff and donors, to make a greater impact.

Brendan shared that

For certain goals and planning, communication is key. The staff of the foundation and the board and leadership must communicate the strategies effectively. They must work directly with the college and discuss compromises, alternatives and then bring the final plans to the board and community. It is a collaborative effort for sure.

Beverly expressed that "Partnership between leadership and the stakeholders is key. Collaboration is key. The planning can only get done that way."

Evelyn shared that without the college having a well-developed plan, the foundation strategy plan cannot be completed. They work hand in hand.

Marilyn, as a chair of the strategic planning committee, stated that it is imperative for both the college and the foundation to work together collaboratively.

Theme 6: Diversity Matters

The theme of diversity was mentioned quite frequently in relation to the board members, the students, and the communities each serves. It was brought up that it was imperative to have proper representation and access for the students. The leadership styles presented all conveyed the sense of this being an important theme for higher education as a whole.

Brendan shared that "the full board is made up of over 24 people roughly of all different backgrounds, races and ethnic backgrounds."

Connor shared that the constant connection with the various constituencies at his foundation made a huge impact on decision making.

Doreen gave the following profile of the campus:

the core of the work is really about scholarships . . . and making funding available to those who are of all different backgrounds and varied needs. But the cost of attending college is much larger than that, and our foundation truly understands that and has come through during coping with special emergency grants to keep people housed has funded a food pantry, has funded car repairs for people. Because as a foundation, we never wanted anything ancillary being the thing that was going to keep them from coming to school.

Debbie expressed that it was imperative to build relationships with people of varied socioeconomic backgrounds and political affiliations, which would enable the

foundation to serve a broad spectrum of students. She emphasized, "our duty is to help everyone who needs it."

Research Question 2: Can Leadership Style Help Explain Successful Institutional Advancement Programs?

According to Usmani (2022), leadership style can be defined as how leaders strategize their relationships with their followers. Knowing the leadership style is vital to gaining the loyalty of followers and increasing the effectiveness of the leader. Success, according to Merriam-Webster, can be defined as: "A favorable or desired outcome."

All nine participants shared that leadership style can help explain successful advancement programs. The rationale of why they felt this way, was varied and shared via the following themes.

Theme 1: Mission Focused

Whitney expressed that the leadership style at Foundation C was "impressive, communicative, engaging, [and] responsive."

Theme 2: Relationship Building

Debbie shared that the leadership style at Foundation A was based on relationship building, and because of the successful relationships being built, Foundation A's institutional advancement program was impacted in a successful manner.

Evelyn shared a similar sentiment for Foundation A. She shared that they are in the "relationship-business."

Connor concurred. He agreed that Foundation A's leadership success was built on relationship building.

Theme 3: Shared Vision

Susan expressed that "leadership style is critical. In advancement, for a lot of reasons, it goes back to trying to create a holistic environment that is supportive." For Foundation B, shared vision was instrumental in shaping the success of institutional advancement.

Theme 4: Empower and Inspire

Beverly stated:

The bottom line is that, you know, we're here to transform lives and it's important we've reached out to students. You know, unfortunately, for us, we had a pandemic, and our leadership and along with our board members went the extra mile to help students when needed, and the success of those efforts is because of them feeling inspired and empowered.

Theme 5: Strategic Planning

Marilyn expressed that for Foundation C, "the absolute number of funds raised, of course, is important, certainly the growth, trajectory, and the consistency . . . helps with the strategic planning, which assists in the success of . . . institutional advancement success."

Whitney, also from Foundation C, shared that "succession planning was key."

Theme 6: Diversity Matters

Connor expressed the importance of diversity in regard to the success in institutional advancement. He shared that "having a diverse board in which the members are really serving is imperative to the success. They volunteer their time; [their] expertise and their backgrounds are so varied. It brings the success to the next level."

Research Question 3: Which Particular Aspects of Leadership Style Have the Most Influence on Successful Institutional Advancement Programs?

Leadership style attributes almost became the sub-themes of the interviews. Certain descriptive words continued to present themselves nearly as much as the themes. Vocabulary like *trust*, *loyalty*, *dedication*, *collaborative*, *open-minded*, *patient*, *team oriented*, *professional*, and *organized* resonated throughout all of the interviews describing the leadership style, and it was interesting how each leader navigated these aspects concurrently throughout the themes. Additionally, of significance was how their styles of leadership and influence impacted each of their respective foundation institutional advancement programs.

Theme 1: Mission Focused

Evelyn shared the collaborative efforts and teamwork of Foundation A in particular have an incredibly friendly atmosphere and that atmosphere is part of the leadership style. Those attributes have the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs.

Whitney shared that "trust is key. If donors trust the process and the mission- they will inevitably give more."

Theme 2: Relationship Building

Connor shared that "collaborative efforts, relationship building, and the expertise of the foundation leadership really have shined through as the aspects of leadership style having the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs for Foundation A."

Beverly shared that

for Foundation B, it's the relationships that are stellar. It's the leadership of the board. They are amazing. If I call any of them, within a moment, they're there. And that's how our students feel . . . and that is what makes aspects of leadership style have the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs for us.

Theme 3: Shared Vision

Evelyn expressed that having a shared vision meant that understanding that the college was affordable and a smart economic choice. That was a shared vision by leadership and the community. That shared vision was part of why Foundation A could be on the same page when communicating effectively.

Marilyn expressed that the leadership showed professionalism and leadership, and that the style of leading with professionalism makes a huge impact on donors, on success of philanthropy, and on advancement's success as well. She expressed that professionals who give their time and attention to boards and who give substantial sums of money, in many cases, want to be confident of the shared vision and professionalism in the manner in which the strategy and shared vision are being delivered by leadership.

Theme 4: Empower and Inspire

Susan shared that the power to inspire is a success marker that could be used for almost any employee or leadership role, as when she saw people inspiring the students it almost always led to powerful and successful implementation of programs. Specifically, she noted that the institutional advancement programs benefited from the inspirational elements of the experiences of students and alumni, as the empowerment stories were helpful to raise funds for scholarships and the student success stories were helpful to grow the programs.

Beverly shared that not only was her own daughter inspired to work hard and earn her degree but also she as a board member was inspired by students. She would hear stories from her "daughter about classmates and be inspired by them to donate more time, funds, connections—whatever necessary and it was because of the experience."

Theme 5: Strategic Planning

Brendan shared that it was beneficial to know that the leadership had all different skillsets, and he stated that the strategic planning worked very well because of the balance. He felt the style was a bit authoritative in relation to strategic planning.

Connor felt that there were opportunities for students and staff to be part of the strategy sessions. He felt that the funds being raised by the foundation and the strategic planning were excellent. He thought it was important that the leadership was addressing and aligning with the strategic direction of the college:

The foundation board to chair the strategic planning committee, and then now has been invited by the president of the college to participate in the institutional strategic planning so in short – it is of the utmost importance to Foundation A.

Doreen shared that an initiative regarding a tax benefit was something new for the foundation and that the board had to trust her, as a new leader. This was an example of customer service and a donor relations component of making that tax credit available to her donors, and it was very much appreciated. As it assisted with approximately \$175,000 of a benefit and helped with the strategic planning, it was a successful leadership move.

Theme 6: Diversity Matters

Connor shared that diversity matters as an aspect of leadership style that has influence on successful institutional advancement programs:

Diversity in opinion, in perspective, bringing all of that to the table matters. It's imperative. The board needs to hear and respond to that so they can understand different views coming from the constituents. It's a democratic way to be and it's worked well for us. People want their opinions and views and voices heard. The different perspectives really inform.

Brendan shared a similar sentiment but in greater detail, by saying,

As a White male . . . it is so important for me to hear what a student who has a different background than me may need. Our board has representation of all different ethnicities, views, races, and it helps me open my mind to ideas and needs that I may not have thought of but am seeing we need to fund and help. It's really important, and it's our role as board members to help. The diversification of the board is key. Without that as your vision, your mission cannot be complete.

Chapter Summary

This chapter summarizes the purpose and methodology for this study. Interviewing the donors as well as the leadership allowed the researcher to examine what styles of leadership support the process of philanthropy for higher education. Leadership plays an integral part in measuring success when the value is placed on raising funds, specifically in higher education. Effective leaders succeed in transforming organizations, influencing donors, and implementing change. Each of these board members who are also donors for their respective organization have the unique opportunity to be able to

objectively examine how the leadership styles work or could be improved to increase the revenue being fundraised at each foundation. Since the mission of these foundations is to help with funding the following scholarship programs, brick and mortar buildings, future capital campaigns, appeals, and endowments, all of their work is in service of helping the students and the college as a whole. Raising funds aiding a college/university can be historic in its efforts in philanthropy.

The interviews examined which style of leadership can be most effective. Common sub themes that were consistently stated by the participants included all of the different leadership styles previously discussed. There were examples in which the leadership had to make authoritative decisions. Some styles demonstrated the transactional nature of the actions taking place. For example, a donation was requested and then received. Nearly all of the leaders demonstrated servant leadership qualities, serving their constituents and community first.

The style that was prevalent and most noticeable was that of being a transformational leader. This meant they needed to pivot and utilize all skillsets dependent on the task, event, or decision at hand. There was not one approach or a onesize-fits-all method that solved conflict or that helped all students. It was transforming lives that was part of each leader's mission along with each donor and board member. Being chameleonlike and rolling with the proverbial punches that inevitably would come was the style these leaders consistently showed.

CHAPTER 5

Discussion

This qualitative research examined how styles of leadership could impact the process of philanthropy for higher education. Comprehension of how the leadership styles influenced fundraising and philanthropy for each institution was shared throughout this research. The research questions investigated included the following: What is the relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement? Can leadership style help explain successful institutional advancement programs? And lastly, which particular aspects of leadership style have the most influence on successful institutional advancement programs? The following themes became prominent while discussing what was leading the charge of philanthropy in higher education and what was driving its success: leadership being mission focused, creating an atmosphere in which leaders were building relationships, leadership having a shared vision, empowering and inspiring donors, strategically planning, and ensuring that diversity matters.

The themes were consistent in all three foundations. The executive directors had to juggle the duties of being mission focused while inspiring and motivating donors to fundraise and believe in their very important mission of assisting students of all different backgrounds and economic status. It was interesting to find that the board members (who were also donors) had relevant experiences and feelings about the importance of the foundations' work even though they were in different locations and demographic settings.

This study examined if leadership style affected the success in fundraising, as well as if one style of leadership (servant leadership, emotional leadership, transactional leadership, or transformational leadership) contributed more to fundraising.

Interpretation of Results

This study took a qualitative approach via case study, with the investigator focusing on one or more cases over time through detailed, in-depth data collection involving multiple sources of information (Creswell, 2013). The first stage of the research was qualitative in nature, whereby the executive directors were contacted via email to determine their inclination to partake in the study. The three executive directors then agreed to be interviewed. In addition, the six board members, two from each the three foundations, also agreed to be interviewed. The interviews took place in the summer of 2022, based on the participants' scheduling availability. The questions asked led to discussions about leadership styles and began to reveal themes about fundraising, philanthropy, donors, and their associated attributes and characteristics.

Each interview was transcribed by the Webex Transcription Feature. Then the coding process took place. The investigator coded the transcriptions and identified themes based on Saldaña's (2012) method for descriptive coding.

The organizations included in this study were the foundations of three community colleges within the SUNY system. Research data were collected via interviews of the executive directors of the foundations and board members/donors at each respective institution. In addition, subsequent observations as well as artifacts were used to triangulate the research data. Data analysis explored thematic connections linking leadership style and philanthropic success within the organizations.

Effective leadership can aid in the successful transformation of organizations, influence donors, and implement change. In recent years, higher education has evolved from being an altruistic source of learning to becoming a source of income to advance an

institution. Philanthropic funding for higher education can serve to assist researchers, labs, buildings, theaters, athletic stadiums, and endowments. Raising funds to aid a college/university can be historic in its efforts in philanthropy, and those in leadership roles are essential in this process. This study examined which style of leadership can be most effective.

Relationship Between Results and Prior Research

Comparing the relationship between prior research overall regarding leadership and the results of the data collected for the subjects included in this research suggests the significance of evolution. When studying leadership styles, theorists such as Bass (1985, 1996, 1997), Burns (1978), Goleman (1995), and Greenleaf (1970) appear throughout timelines of history. However, when analyzing the theorists and their work, it becomes apparent that many of the elements of their styles could be used tangentially. Some, of course, are the antithesis of one another; for example, if one is a servant leader, typically one would then not be authoritative in style. But what this study uncovered in the interviews is that it is not as much about the style of the leader but the reaction to the event in which the style needs to be applied. For example, there are times in which all styles are necessary. Some leaders are more inclined to lead more predominantly than others. As this study has shown, most of the leadership within the realm of the community college foundation staff and boards of directors would most likely be classified as transformative. That being said, as revealed in this study there were decisions that needed to be made in which an authoritative head needed to be firm and make an executive decision. An example of this was when Foundation A needed to completely redraft their memorandum of understanding with the college and stand firm

with what was necessary. Another example was that many times Foundation B was cited by their board as needing to be transactional in decision making. There were many times there was something negotiated for something else. Transactional leadership uses rewards or punishments, which are typically distinguished as instrumental in a follower's target achievement (Bass, 1997). In some instances, participants cited that a building was named for a price.

On multiple occasions, Foundation C referenced being emotionally driven and inspired to offer more opportunities for students. According to Goleman (1995), emotional leadership is a process that leaders use to influence their followers to work toward a common goal.

In nearly all cases the leadership and volunteers had a focus of servant leadership, in which, according to Greenleaf, the servant-leader is servant first. It begins with the natural feeling that one wants to serve, to serve first (Greenleaf, 1970). Greenleaf shared that to serve the greater good above the individual was paramount. Mission must come first.

Attributes of all of these types of decision-making and leadership styles were combined on a daily basis, causing the analysis in this study to point to transformational leadership. Transformational leadership is a process in which according to Burns (1978), "leaders and followers help each other to advance to a higher level of morale and motivation."

Limitations

The goal of this study was to explore which leadership styles best supports the process of philanthropy for higher education. Since leadership plays an integral part in

measuring success in higher education, specifically in higher education philanthropy, it was important to examine if there was one style that was more impactful than the others. This study was conducted with the community college foundations within the SUNY system, which includes 30 community colleges. A potential limitation could include that there are various locations with different demographics, and those different demographics could call for different outcomes. Suburban vs. urban settings could yield different results. Further, it should be noted that all of the executive directors interviewed were female. Perhaps the results would be different if the genders were different.

Implications for Future Research

To reinforce the foundation of these conclusions, continuing to study leadership styles to see if there are consistent findings and to continue to study in both four-year institutions and also private universities could be helpful to see if certain leadership styles are found to be consistently most successful for philanthropy in higher education. In addition, interviewing donors who perhaps are not board members could possibly bring forward different results or yield different perceptions of or vantage points on leadership style.

This study brought forward dedicated participants, volunteers, donors, and leaders, and each interviewed shared their experiences, how they responded to leadership styles, and how their constituencies responded to leadership styles. Each foundation represented in the study was part of the SUNY system, and one could infer that perhaps results may be different at a private university. However, since the attributes of the leadership styles discussed by the participants of this study are the same as those that are

prominent in some of the most successful businesses in the world, perhaps the results of a similar study in a different type of institution would be exactly the same.

The summary of this study is that the leadership style that these participants most admired, utilized, and expressed to be most successful was transformative in nature. It had to adapt to the situation. It had components of all leadership styles.

Implications for Future Practice

Several suggestions for future practice and as well as the future evolution of leadership style would be suggested from this investigation. Community college foundations and their boards of directors will want to be mindful to the results of this study when making appointment choices about their next head of the institution, as in today's higher education environment, philanthropy is affected by the highest level of management, including the institution's president. The leaders of foundations and staffing must be able to work in tandem with the president to effectively leverage philanthropy to sustain and build the organization. There must be a dynamic team in place that works collaboratively on philanthropic projects at the school.

The institutions must have organizational pyramids clearly in place at the school and specifically in the foundations in order to be available to meet with alumni, community constituents, corporate partners, and potential major donors. This is absolutely critical to the success of the fundraising efforts. Boards of directors should consider school leaders who have the capacity and ability to be transformational leaders. Leadership style, specifically having an emphasis on relationship building, was a common theme in all interviews with leaders and donors. It was shared time and time again that due to the leadership style, the success of the organization was defined by the

attributes of building trust, being available, developing the community and donor constituency, and staying true to the mission.

The data suggested that while the leaders were already skilled in forming solid relationships with their donors, this needed to be done with absolute consistency through leadership transition and succession. This needs to be paramount for planning for future succession building of foundation leadership and philanthropy building for future success and evolution. Leadership style has always been and will continue to be a part of the process of determining what motivates a donor to want to donate. This process must not only translate to foundations but also permeate leadership at the college level in order to ensure future growth. Higher education leadership will need to understand the influence that forming a close bond with a potential donor has in the long-term success of the institution, building trust and acting with integrity. Trust building, relationship building, connectedness, and acting with integrity are highly important in forming genuine relationships with donors, alumni, the community, and the college as a whole over the long term. In order for foundations to succeed, there also needs to be buy-in and commitment from the leadership at the college. If everyone is all-in, then everyone wins. The mission succeeds.

Chapter Summary

This culminating chapter summarizes the interpretation of the results of the data collected, the relationship between the results and prior research, limitations, implications for future research, and implications for future practice as it pertains to how leadership style impacts the process of philanthropy for higher education. Regarding this study's consideration of leadership styles, attributes, behaviors, and characteristics associated

with strong fundraising and philanthropy, specifically examining three community college foundations within the SUNY system, several conclusions may be drawn from this research.

Effective leadership can aid in the successful transformation of organizations, influence donors, and implement change. This study has shown that many leadership styles are necessary to make foundations successful. The results from this study indicate that the themes most resounding with the participants have been those of being mission focused, relationship focused, and inspirational and empowering to the students; these aspects of leadership work best in impacting donor fundraising.

The leadership style most used to have this impact was transformational in nature. Transformational leadership and the characteristics and behaviors associated with being a transformational leader were also very important in terms of fundraising. The future of fundraising and philanthropy for higher education will undoubtedly become a powerful resource for colleges in both the public and private sectors, as fundraising has already started to become a fruitful source of income to advance an institution. It has been and will continue to be a funding source to elevate campuses. It will also be able to provide property gains for use of land that can be reimagined for future leaders.

Philanthropic funding for higher education can serve to assist researchers, labs, buildings, theaters, athletic stadiums, and endowments. Raising funds to aid a college/university can be and will be historic in its efforts in philanthropy, and those in leadership roles are essential. According to the Council on Foundations (2021), philanthropy can be defined in different ways. The origin of the word *philanthropy* is Greek and means "love for mankind." Today, philanthropy includes the concept of

voluntary giving by an individual or group to promote the common good. Based on this study, philanthropy could be defined as investing in our future. There is no greater mission, no greater good, no greater common denominator that binds us all than investing in our future. It is always the right time to give.

APPENDIX A ST. JOHN'S UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

APPROVAL



Federal Wide Assurance: FWA00009066 Apr 19, 2022 12:46:07 PM IRB-FY2022-314 - Initial: Initial - Expedited - St. John's

PI: Joy DeDonato CO-PI: James Campbell The School of Education, Ed Admin & Instruc Leadership

Re: Expedited Review - Initial - IRB-FY2022-314 What Styles of Leadership Support The Process of Philanthropy For Higher Education? A Qualitative Analysis

Dear Joy DeDonato:

The St John's University Institutional Review Board has rendered the decision below for *What Styles of Leadership Support The Process of Philanthropy For Higher Education? A Qualitative Analysis.* The approval is effective from April 14, 2022 through April 13, 2023.

Decision: Approved

PLEASE NOTE: If you have collected any data prior to this approval date, the data must be discarded.

Selected Category: 7. Research on individual or group characteristics or behavior (including, but not limited to, research on perception, cognition, motivation, identity, language, communication, cultural beliefs or practices, and social behavior) or research employing survey, interview, oral history, focus group, program evaluation, human factors evaluation, or quality assurance methodologies.

Sincerely,

Raymond DiGiuseppe, PhD, ABPP Chair, Institutional Review Board Professor of Psychology Marie Nitopi, Ed.D. IRB Coordinator

APPENDIX B PARTICIPANT CONSENT FORM



Consent and Release Form

Background: You have been invited to take part in a research study to learn more about professional development. This study will be conducted by Joy DeDonato, as part of her doctoral dissertation. Her faculty sponsor is James R. Campbell, Ph.D., Saint John's University, School of Education, Department of Administrative and Instructional Leadership.

Procedures: If you agree to be in this study, you will be asked to agree to the following:

- 1. To be interviewed.
- 2. To aid the researcher in her analysis of any data collected.

Risks and Benefits: There are no known risks associated with your participation in this research beyond those of everyday life. Although you will receive no direct benefits, this research may help the investigator better understand how professional development is related to student classroom support.

Confidentiality: Confidentiality of your research records will be strictly maintained by keeping consent forms separate from data, using a coding system to ensure anonymity, and storing all raw data in a locked cabinet off site from the study.

Participation: Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate or withdraw at any time without penalty. For interviews, you have the right to skip or not answer any questions you prefer not to answer.

Questions and Contacts: If there is anything about the study or your participation that is unclear or that you do not understand, if you have questions or wish to report a researchrelated problem, you may contact Joy DeDonato at ______@stjohns.edu or

or the faculty sponsor, James R. Campbell, Ph.D. at a second participant, Saint John's University, School of Education, Sullivan Hall, 8000 Utopia Parkway, Queens, NY 11439. For questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Human Subjects Review Board, St. John's University. You can contact Dr. Marie Nitopi, the Board Coordinator, at store @stjohns.edu or by phone at second provide the Chairperson of the Board, Dr. Raymond DiGiuseppe at a gastion of the second provide the s

Copy: You have received a copy of this consent document to keep.

Agreement to Participate

Subject's Signature

Date

Subject's Name (Please Print)

APPENDIX C FOUNDATION LEADERSHIP INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Note: Foundation Leadership will be encouraged to answer questions in as much detail as possible:

GENERAL

- 1) Tell me about the leadership structure of your organization.
- 2) Tell me about the culture of your organization.
- 3) What are your overall experiences regarding the leadership structure of your organization?
- 4) Tell me about your donors' involvement in your organization.
- 5) Tell me about your relationships with your donors.
- 6) How do you define successful philanthropy for higher education?
- 7) Overall, do you think the relationships you developed with your donors has impacted your success in philanthropy for higher education?
- 8) Overall, do you think the relationships you developed with the College Community has impacted your success in philanthropy for higher education?
- 9) Are there any attributes of successful philanthropic endeavors at other foundations that you would want to be able to implement now or in the future? If yes, what are they?

LEADERSHIP STYLE

- 10) Tell me about your leadership style.
- 11) What are some of the attributes of your leadership style that you feel make your organization successful?
- 12) What are some characteristics of your leadership that you would like to grow?
- 13) In your opinion, what is the impact between leadership style and institutional advancement?

SUCCESS

14) Can leadership style help explain successful institutional advancement

programs?

15) Is there a particular type of leadership style that is more than others in successful institutional advancement programs

APPENDIX D FOUNDATION BOARD/DONOR INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Note: Foundation Board/Donors will be encouraged to answer questions in as much detail as possible:

GENERAL

- 1) Tell me about the leadership structure and/or culture of the organization you donate to.
- 2) What were your overall perceptions or experiences about the leadership structure and/or culture of this organization?
- 3) Tell me about your leadership's involvement in your organization.
- 4) Tell me about your relationships with your leadership.
- 5) How do you define successful philanthropy for higher education?
- 6) Overall, do you think the relationships you developed with your organization's leadership has impacted your willingness or desire to give that has benefitted success in philanthropy for higher education?
- 7) Overall, do you think the relationships that has been developed with the College Community has impacted the success in philanthropy for higher education?
- 8) Are there any attributes of successful philanthropic endeavors at other foundations that you would want to be able to assist in implementing now or in the future? If yes, what are they?

LEADERSHIP STYLE

- 9) Tell me about your organization's leadership style.
- 10) What are some of the attributes of your organization's leadership style that you feel make your organization successful?
- 11) What are some characteristics of your organization's leadership that you would like to grow?
- 12) In your opinion, what is the relationship between leadership style and institutional advancement?

SUCCESS

13) In your experience, can leadership style help explain successful institutional advancement programs?

14) In your experience, is there a particular type of leadership style that is more than others in successful institutional advancement programs?

REFERENCES

- Aud, S., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., Kristapovich, P., Rathbun, A., Wang, X., & Zhang, J. (2013). *The condition of education 2013* (Report No. NCES 2013-037). U. S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch
- Avolio, B. J., & Bass, B. M. (1988). Transformational leadership, charisma, and beyond. In J. G. Hunt, B. R. Baliga, H. P. Dachler, & C. A. Schriesheim (Eds.), *Emerging leadership vistas* (pp. 29–49). Lexington Books/D. C. Heath.
- Bass, B. M. & Avolio, B. J. (Eds.). (1994). *Improving organizational effectiveness* through transformational leadership. Sage Publications.
- Bass, B. M. (1974). Bass and Stogdill's handbook of leadership: Theory, research and managerial applications (3rd ed.). The Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1996). A new paradigm of leadership: An inquiry into transformational leadership. U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences.
- Bass, B. M. (1997). Transformational leadership. Erlbaum.
- Bass, B. M. (1998). Transformational leadership: Industrial, military, and educational *impact*. Erlbaum.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1990). From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision. *Organizational Dynamics*, 18(3), 19–31.
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (2015). *Multifactor leadership questionnaire (3)*. Mindgarden.

- Bell, J., Masaoka, J., & Zimmerman, S. (2010). Nonprofit sustainability: Making strategic decisions for financial viability. Jossey-Bass.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1985). Leadership: The strategies for taking charge. Harper & Row.
- Bornstein, R. (2005). The nature and nurture of presidents. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, 11(4), 10–11.
- Bradley, J. (1993). Methodological issues and practices in qualitative research. *Library Quarterly*, *63*(4), 431–449.
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper & Row.
- Caboni, T. C. (2008). *The myth of the volunteer fundraiser* [Conference presentation].
 Council for Advancement and Support of Education conference, Winter Chief
 Development Officer Institute, Washington, DC.
- Caboni, T. C., & Proper, E. (2007, November). *Dissertations related to fundraising and their implications for higher education research* [Conference presentation].
 Association for the Study of Higher Education conference, Louisville, KY.
- Conway, D. (2003). Practicing stewardship. In E. R. Temple (Ed.), *Achieving* excellence in fundraising (pp. 431–441). Jossey-Bass.
- Council on Foundations. (2021). Glossary of terms. https://cof.org/ad/glossary-terms
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). Introduction: The discipline and practice of qualitative research. *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research* (4th ed., pp. 1– 19). Sage.

Ewert, S. (2013). *The decline in independent school enrollment*. U.S. Census Bureau: SEHSD Working Paper Number FY11/117.

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics. Sage.

Goldman, E. (1998). The significance of leadership style. ASCD.

https://www.ascd.org/el/articles/the-significance-of-leadership-style

Goleman, D. (1995). Emotional intelligence. Bantam Books.

Greenleaf, R. K. (1970). The servant as leader. Center for Applied Studies.

- Greenleaf, R. K. (1977/2010). Servant leadership. In G. R. Hickman (Ed.), *Leading* organizations: Perspectives for a new era (2nd ed.) (pp. 87–95). SAGE
 Publications.
- Greenleaf, R. K., & Spears, L. C. (2002). Servant leadership: a journey into the nature of legitimate power and greatness. Paulist Press.
- Hoy, W. K., & Miskel, C. G. (2013). Educational administration: Theory, research, and practice. McGraw-Hill Publishers.
- Kirkpatrick, S. A., & Locke, E. A. (1996). Direct and indirect effects of three core charismatic leadership components on performance and attitudes. *Journal of Applied Psychology 81*, 36–51.
- Krishnan, V. R. (2005). Transformational leadership and outcomes: Role of relationship duration. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 26(6), 442–457. https://doi.org/10.1108/01437730510617654
- Kuhnert, K. W., & Lewis, P. (1987). Transactional and transformational leadership: A constructive/developmental analysis. *Academy of Management Review*, 12, 648–657.

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications.

Loyd, M. M. (2010). Donor relations and stewardship and their relationship to independent philanthropy in universities [Doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri—Columbia].

https://mospace.umsystem.edu/xmlui/handle/10355/8338?show=full

- Marshall, C. A., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research* (5th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Merriam-Webster. (2021). University. In *Merriam-Webster's online dictionary* (11th ed.). https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/university
- Muir, R., & May, J. (Eds.). (1993). Developing an effective major gift program: From managing staff to soliciting gifts. CASE.
- Nicholson, W. D. (2006). Leading where it counts: An investigation of the leadership behaviors that define college and university presidents as successful fundraisers [Doctoral dissertation, University of South Carolina].
- Nicholson, W. D. (2007). Leading where it counts: An investigation of the leadership behaviors that define college and university presidents as successful fundraisers. *International Journal of Educational Advancement*, 7(4), 256–270.

Saldaña, J. (2012). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Sage.

- Tichy, N. M., & Devanna, M. A. (1986). The transformational leader. *Training & Development Journal*, 40(7), 27–32.
- Usmani, F. (2022). Leadership styles: Definition, meaning, & types of Leadership styles. *PM Study Circles*. https://pmstudycircle.com/leadership-styles/
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and method. Sage.

Yukl, G., & Van Fleet, D. D. (1992). Theory and research on leadership in organizations.
In M. D. Dunnette & L. M. Hough (Eds.), *Handbook of industrial and* organizational psychology (pp. 147–197). Consulting Psychologists Press.

Zhang, Y., & Wildemuth, B. M. (2009). Qualitative analysis of content. In B. M. Wildemuth (Ed.), *Applications of social research methods to questions in information and library science* (pp. 308–319). Libraries Unlimited.

Name	Joy DeDonato	
Baccalaureate Degree	Bachelor of Fine Arts, Long Island University, Greenvale, New York Major: Communications	
Date Graduated	May 9, 1999	
Other Degrees and Certificates*	Master of Science, Long Island University, Greenvale, New York Major: Education	
	Concentration: College Student Development	
Date Graduated	September 24, 2000	

Vita